Higgs- R^2 inflation – full slow-roll study at tree-level

Vera-Maria Enckell,^a Kari Enqvist,^a Syksy Räsänen^{a,b} and Lumi-Pyry Wahlman^a

^aUniversity of Helsinki, Department of Physics and Helsinki Institute of Physics, P.O. Box 64, FIN-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland

^bBirzeit University, Department of Physics

P.O. Box 14, Birzeit, West Bank, Palestine

E-mail: vera-maria.enckell@helsinki.fi, kari.enqvist@helsinki.fi, syksy.rasanen@iki.fi, pyry.wahlman@helsinki.fi

Abstract. We consider Higgs inflation with an αR^2 term. It adds a new scalar degree of freedom, which leads to a two-field model of inflation. We do a complete slow-roll analysis of the three-dimensional parameter space of the R^2 coefficient α , the nonminimal coupling ξ and the Higgs self-coupling λ . We find three classes of inflationary solutions, but only pure R^2 and attractor solutions fit observations. We find that pure Higgs inflation is impossible when the R^2 term is present regardless of how small α is. However, we can have Higgs-like inflation, where the amplitude of the perturbations does not depend on α and the predictions as a function of e-folds are the same as in Higgs inflation, although the inflationary trajectory is curved in field space. The spectral index is $0.939 < n_R < 0.967$, and constraining it to the observed range, the tensor-to-scalar ratio varies from 3.8×10^{-3} to the maximum allowed by observations, 0.079. Observational constraints on isocurvature perturbations contribute to these limits, whereas non-Gaussianity is automatically in the range allowed by observations.

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|----------|---|----|
| 2 | The set-up | 3 |
| | 2.1 Action and changes of variables | 3 |
| | 2.2 Frame-covariant formalism and the Higgs inflation limit | 4 |
| | 2.3 Inflationary predictions and CMB observables | 5 |
| 3 | Slow-roll regions | 7 |
| | 3.1 Analytical treatment | 7 |
| | 3.2 Numerical results | 10 |
| | 3.3 Comparison to previous work | 12 |
| 4 | Conclusions | 13 |

1 Introduction

Higgs inflation, based on the only fundamental scalar field in the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics, is an appealingly simple model of inflation. The potential of the SM Higgs without gravity is too steep [1–3], but successful inflation is achieved with the non-minimal coupling $\xi H^{\dagger}HR$ of the Higgs doublet H to the Ricci scalar R [4]. Such a coupling is generated by quantum corrections [5]. When this term is taken into account, the amplitude of perturbations is right for $\xi = 4 \times 10^4 \sqrt{\lambda}$ (where λ is the Higgs quartic coupling), and the tree-level predictions for the scalar spectral index $n_R = 0.96$, its running and the tensor-to-scalar ratio $r = 5 \times 10^{-3}$ agree well with observations [6]. However, quantum corrections complicate the picture. In most cases, loop corrections do not change the qualitative behaviour [7], though for tuned values of the model parameters the Higgs potential may develop an inflection point [7–18], a hilltop [7, 16, 19] or a degenerate vacuum [20, 21], which can significantly affect predictions.

In curved spacetime quantum corrections, in addition to changing the effective Higgs potential as in flat spacetime, also generate higher order curvature terms. Indeed, the first inflationary model, by Alexei Starobinsky, was based on such terms produced by the trace anomaly [22]. In general, Riemann tensor terms that do not reduce to a function of the Ricci scalar (or higher order Lovelock invariants) suffer from the Ostrogradski instability [23–25]. As is well known, in the metric formulation of general relativity an F(R) action is equivalent to Einstein–Hilbert gravity plus a scalar field at the classical level [26], and also at one loop on-shell [27, 28]. If we restrict to terms of up to dimension four, this reasoning leads to (neglecting the cosmological constant) $F(R) = M_{\rm Pl}^2 R + \alpha R^2$, which is at the background level equivalent to the original trace anomaly model of Starobinsky. The amplitude of perturbations is right for $\alpha = 8 \times 10^8$,

and the predictions as a function of e-folds are the same as in Higgs inflation (although the number of e-folds is different due to lower reheating temperature [29]).

When both the non-minimal coupling of the Higgs field and the R^2 term are taken into account, we obtain a two-field model of inflation. Indeed, renormalisation group running implies that, absent fine-tuning, $8\pi^2 \alpha \gtrsim (\xi + \frac{1}{6})^2$ (different sources have a slightly different numerical coefficient) [30–33]. Models of inflation with a non-minimally coupled scalar field and the R^2 term have been discussed in [30–46] (see also [47]).

The effect of the R^2 term in an extended Higgs inflation model was first discussed in passing in [34]. In [35] an *h*-dependent coupling to the R^2 term was considered, focusing on the stability of Starobinsky inflation in the case $\lambda = 0$. In [36] the authors found the attractor solutions, studied the fit to data and estimated the isocurvature contribution. The attractor solutions were also studied in [37, 39], and it was found that the spectral index and tensor-to-scalar ratio are close to the pure Higgs or Starobinsky case and isocurvature perturbations are small. In the recent work [42] the authors studied different inflationary trajectories analytically, including isocurvature effects, and found the merging of different inflationary regions and the possibility of large r. The effect of the R^2 term on renormalisation group running was studied in [30–32], with emphasis on the feature that a large value of ξ will in general induce a large value of $\alpha \sim \xi^2/(8\pi^2)$ (see also [48, 49]). In [40] its effect on the unitarity problem, and via renormalisation group running to vacuum stability, was considered. In [33] two-loop corrections were studied in detail, and they found corrections of the order of a few percent.

We perform a full study of the parameter space of the R^2 coefficient α , the nonminimal coupling ξ and the Higgs self-coupling λ . We first study all slow-roll regions analytically and then scan them numerically, including observational constraints on the amplitude, spectral index, its running, tensor-to-scalar ratio, non-Gaussianity and isocurvature perturbations. We find that pure Higgs inflation (meaning the case where the inflationary trajectory is aligned with the Higgs direction) is not possible, and identify an inflationary region that mixes the two scalar fields and gives a range of predictions in agreement with the current observational data. In the region where the two fields mix we can have Higgs-like inflation, where the amplitude of the perturbations does not depend on α and the predictions as a function of e-folds are the same as in Higgs inflation.

In section 2 we introduce the action, rewrite it in terms of two scalar fields and perform a conformal transformation to the Einstein frame. We use the frame-covariant formalism and show that we do not recover pure Higgs inflation. We also review the CMB observables and their observational ranges. In section 3 we first look at the slow-roll regions analytically and then present our numerical results and compare to previous work. In section 4 we summarise our conclusions.

2 The set-up

2.1 Action and changes of variables

We consider an action with a non-minimally coupled scalar field, which we identify with the SM Higgs, and a gravitational sector with an F(R) term. We reparametrise the F(R) term to write the extra degree of freedom in terms of a scalar field, redefine fields and make a conformal transformation to the Einstein frame.

We begin from the following action for scalar field h and metric $g_{\alpha\beta}$:

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} F(R) + \frac{1}{2} G(h) R - \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha h \partial_\beta h - V(h) \right] , \qquad (2.1)$$

where g is the determinant of $g_{\alpha\beta}$ and R is the Ricci scalar, determined by the metric and its first two derivatives. The usual Higgs inflation corresponds to [4]

Higgs inflation :
$$F(R) = M_{\rm Pl}R$$
, $G(h) = \xi h^2$, $V(h) = \frac{\lambda}{4}(h^2 - v^2)^2$. (2.2)

In order to exchange F(R) for R plus a scalar field, we rewrite the action (2.1) as [50]

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} G(h) R + \frac{1}{2} \{ F(\phi) + F'(\phi) (R - \phi) \} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} h \partial_{\beta} h - V(h) \right] ,$$
(2.3)

where ϕ is an auxiliary field. Variation with respect to ϕ yields (if $F'' \neq 0$) $\phi = R$, and if we substitute this result back to (2.3) we recover the original action (2.1). By redefining the auxiliary field as $\varphi \equiv F'(\phi)$ we obtain the action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} [\varphi + G(h)] R - W(\varphi) - \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha h \partial_\beta h - V(h) \right] , \qquad (2.4)$$

where the potential for φ is

$$W(\varphi) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \{ \phi(\varphi)\varphi - F[\phi(\varphi)] \} .$$
(2.5)

To obtain minimally coupled fields, we make a conformal transformation to Einstein frame

$$g_{\alpha\beta} \to \Omega^2 g_{\alpha\beta} = [\varphi + G(h)]g_{\alpha\beta}$$
 (2.6)

The action then becomes

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} R - \frac{3}{4\Omega^4} g^{\alpha\beta} (\partial_\alpha \varphi \partial_\beta \varphi + 2 \partial_\alpha \varphi \partial_\beta G + \partial_\alpha G \partial_\beta G) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\Omega^2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha h \partial_\beta h - \hat{V}(h, \varphi) \right] , \qquad (2.7)$$

where we have chosen units such that the Planck mass is unity, and the new potential reads

$$\hat{V}(h,\varphi) = \frac{V(h) + W(\varphi)}{\Omega^4} .$$
(2.8)

Note that $\Omega^2 > 0$ is a necessary and sufficient condition for neither of the scalar fields to be ghosts.

Restricting to dimension four terms, we have

$$F(R) = R + \alpha R^2, \quad G(h) = \xi h^2, \quad V(h) = \frac{\lambda}{4} (h^2 - v^2)^2,$$
 (2.9)

where α and ξ are constants. For this choice the action becomes

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} R - \frac{3}{4\Omega^4} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha \varphi \partial_\beta \varphi - \frac{3\xi h}{\Omega^4} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha \varphi \partial_\beta h - \frac{\Omega^2 + 6\xi^2 h^2}{2\Omega^4} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha h \partial_\beta h - \hat{V}(h,\varphi) \right], \qquad (2.10)$$

and the potential is

$$\hat{V}(h,\varphi) = \frac{\lambda}{4} \frac{(h^2 - v^2)^2}{\Omega^4} + \frac{1}{8\alpha} \frac{(\varphi - 1)^2}{\Omega^4} .$$
(2.11)

If α is negative, the electroweak (EW) vacuum at $h = v, \varphi = 1$ is a saddle point, so we take $\alpha > 0$. The kinetic cross-term could be removed with the field redefinition $\Phi = \Omega^2 = \varphi + \xi h^2$. However, we cannot have a canonical kinetic term for both fields at the same time, hence we have to anyway take into account curvature in field space, which we do with the frame-covariant formalism.

2.2 Frame-covariant formalism and the Higgs inflation limit

In multi-field inflation, all fields cannot be simultaneously canonically normalised if the field space is curved. This is the case in Higgs–Starobinsky inflation, and various choices of field coordinates have been used in the literature [33–42]. The exact physical quantities are independent of the chosen frame, but we have to be careful when making the slow-roll approximation. We follow the frame-covariant formalism introduced in [51, 52] where the slow-roll parameters are frame-covariant, ensuring that quantities expanded in them are invariant under frame and field reparametrisation, i.e. independent of the choice coordinates in the space of the metric and the scalar fields.

As noted above, we use the Einstein frame, which simplifies many of the equations. The field space metric of the action (2.10) reads

$$G_{AB} = \frac{1}{\Omega^4} \begin{pmatrix} 3/2 & 3\xi h \\ 3\xi h & \Omega^2 + 6\xi^2 h^2 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (2.12)$$

where the indices A, B refer to field coordinates that are collectively denoted as

$$\phi^A = (\varphi, h) . \tag{2.13}$$

The inverse of G_{AB} is G^{AB} , and the two tensors are used to lower and raise indices in field space.

The first two slow-roll parameters can be expressed as¹

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} \frac{G^{AB} V_{,A} V_{,B}}{V^2}$$

$$\eta = G^{AB} \frac{V_{,A}}{V} \frac{\epsilon_{,B}}{\epsilon} , \qquad (2.14)$$

and in general

$$\epsilon_{n+1} = G^{AB} \frac{V_{,A}}{V} \frac{(\epsilon_n)_{,B}}{\epsilon_n} . \qquad (2.15)$$

The general expressions for ϵ and η are complicated. In the limit $h \ll 1, v \ll 1$ we get

$$\epsilon = \frac{4}{3(\varphi - 1)^2} + \mathcal{O}(h^2) \tag{2.16}$$

$$\eta = -\frac{8\varphi}{3(\varphi - 1)^2} + \mathcal{O}(h^2) , \qquad (2.17)$$

which is the usual result for Starobinsky inflation. However, in the limit $h \gg 1$ we have (for any value of φ)

$$\epsilon = \frac{4}{3}(1+6\xi) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{h^2}\right) \tag{2.18}$$

$$\eta = \frac{4\xi}{3\lambda\alpha} \left[-6\lambda\alpha + \xi(1+6\xi) \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{h^2}\right) , \qquad (2.19)$$

so the slow-roll parameters do not reduce to those of Higgs inflation even if $\varphi = 1$. Furthermore a constant φ is never a solution to the field equations, which implies that pure Higgs inflation becomes unstable when we add the R^2 term. (In contrast, it is consistent to put h = 0 in the region where the R^2 term dominates if we neglect v, whose effect is insignificant in the inflationary region.) We do not recover pure Higgs inflation in the limit $\alpha \to 0$ either (unless α is exactly zero, in which case there is only one scalar degree of freedom, the Higgs field), as we will show in section 3.1.

2.3 Inflationary predictions and CMB observables

Predictions for adiabatic and tensor perturbations. Expanded to lowest order in slow-roll parameters (2.14), the scalar spectral index, the running of spectral index and the tensor-to-scalar ratio read

$$n_R = 1 - 2\epsilon + \eta - \sin(2\Theta)\mathcal{D}_N T_{\mathcal{RS}} \tag{2.20}$$

$$\alpha_R = -2\epsilon\eta - \eta\zeta - 2\cos(2\Theta)\cos^2\Theta(\mathcal{D}_N T_{\mathcal{RS}})^2 + \sin(2\Theta)\mathcal{D}_N \mathcal{D}_N T_{\mathcal{RS}} \qquad (2.21)$$

$$r = 16\epsilon \cos^2 \Theta , \qquad (2.22)$$

¹This definition of η differs by a sign from that in [51, 52], as we find the latter inconsistent with the equations of the observables r, n_R , and α_R . Using our convention, in the single field case ϵ and η relate to the usual slow-roll parameters as $\epsilon = \epsilon_V$, $\eta = 2\eta_V - 4\epsilon_V$, with $\epsilon_V = \frac{1}{2}(V'/V)^2$, $\eta_V = V''/V$. This sign issue propagates to the higher order slow-roll parameters ϵ_n .

where \mathcal{D}_N is the frame covariant derivative with respect to the number of e-folds (see (2.29) in [51]), $T_{\mathcal{RS}}$ is the transfer function between the curvature and isocurvature modes and Θ is the transfer angle. The last two are discussed in more detail below. Non-Gaussianity, estimated in terms of the amplitude of the bispectrum defined with the three-point correlator of the comoving curvature perturbation, is

$$f_{NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N^{,A} N^{,B} \nabla_A \nabla_B N}{\left(N_{,A} N^{,A}\right)^2} , \qquad (2.23)$$

where ∇_A is the covariant derivative in field space.

Predictions for isocurvature perturbations. Let us then consider isocurvature perturbations. The formal solutions for the comoving curvature and isocurvature perturbations are given in terms of the transfer functions T_{RS} , T_{SS} as

$$\mathcal{R}(t) = \mathcal{R}(t_*) + T_{\mathcal{RS}}(t_*, t)\mathcal{S}(t_*)$$
(2.24)

$$\mathcal{S}(t) = \mathcal{R}(t_*) + T_{\mathcal{SS}}(t_*, t)\mathcal{S}(t_*) , \qquad (2.25)$$

where star denotes quantities calculated at the pivot scale $k_* = 0.05 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$. The solution for the transfer functions in terms of the number of e-folds N reads

$$T_{\mathcal{RS}}(N_*, N) = -\int_{N_*}^N dN' A(N') T_{\mathcal{SS}}(N_*, N')$$
(2.26)

$$T_{\mathcal{SS}}(N_*, N) = \exp\left[-\int_{N_*}^N dN' B(N')\right] , \qquad (2.27)$$

where the functions A(N), B(N) depend on the model of inflation, and can be written in terms of various frame-covariant parameters [51, 52]. The effect of the energy transfer between the curvature and isocurvature modes can then be encoded in the transfer angle Θ^2

$$\cos\Theta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + T_{\mathcal{RS}}^2}} \tag{2.28}$$

and the isocurvature fraction

$$\beta_{\rm iso} = \frac{T_{SS}^2}{1 + T_{RS}^2 + T_{SS}^2} \,. \tag{2.29}$$

Observational values. When comparing to observations we apply the Planck ranges for the cosmological observables at the pivot scale $k_* = 0.05 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$. The Hubble exit of this scale corresponds to (assuming that reheating lasts 4 e-folds, as in pure Higgs inflation [54–56], although see [57–59])

$$N_* = 52 - \frac{1}{4} \ln \frac{r_*}{0.079} , \qquad (2.30)$$

²The transfer angle Θ used in [51, 52] is related to the correlation angle Δ used in the Planck analysis [53] as $\Theta = \Delta + \pi/2$.

which is also the constraint for the minimum amount of inflation. The number of e-folds depends on the tensor-to-scalar ratio r_* at the pivot scale for which we use the CMB constraint [6]

$$r_* < 0.079$$
 . (2.31)

For the amplitude of scalar perturbations we use the mean value [6]

$$24\pi^2 A_* = \frac{V_*}{\epsilon_* \cos^2 \Theta_*} = 4.97 \times 10^{-7} . \qquad (2.32)$$

The 95% confidence limits for the spectral index read [6]

$$0.9554 < n_R < 0.9726 , \qquad (2.33)$$

and the running of the spectral index is constrained to

$$-0.0207 < \alpha_R < 0.0065 . \tag{2.34}$$

The limits for the transfer angle Θ are given by [6]

$$-0.25 < \sin \Theta < 0.23 , \qquad (2.35)$$

and the upper bound of the isocurvature fraction is

$$\beta_{\rm iso} < 0.38$$
 . (2.36)

For some choices of datasets and likelihoods, the Planck data in fact gives a lower bound on β_{iso} [6]. If confirmed, this would rule out most of our allowed region on the (n_R, r) plane. Finally, non-Gaussianity is constrained as [60]

$$-9.2 < f_{NL} < 10.8 . (2.37)$$

3 Slow-roll regions

3.1 Analytical treatment

We find that the viable slow-roll area in field space divides into two parts. The first one is the Starobinsky region where $h \ll 1$ and $\varphi \gg 1$. The second one is a region centered around a positively curved parabola in field space. The value of ξ determines whether these regions are attractors or repellers. Let us look at the regions analytically before going to the numerical results.

Let us first consider the case when ξ is positive. There are then four slow-roll regions, two of which can lead to successful inflation. The first region is the one around the parabola

$$\varphi = 1 + b + ch^2 , \qquad (3.1)$$



Figure 1. Field trajectories for c = 1and d = 0.18 ($\xi = 2\lambda \alpha \approx 0.01$). We show only trajectories for which the observables are in the allowed ranges (2.33) to (2.37). Only solutions near the attractor satisfy these criteria. The red line is the analytical approximation (3.1) for the attractor, which is not very good for the small value of ξ used. The coloured region shows the area where $|\epsilon|, |\eta| < 1$.



Figure 2. Field trajectories for c = 1and d = 0.36 ($\xi = 2\lambda\alpha \approx 0.2$). We show only trajectories for which the observables are in the allowed ranges (2.33) to (2.37). The red line is the analytical approximation (3.1) for the attractor. We have chosen a small value of ξ for representation purposes (for larger ξ the region around the attractor becomes too thin). The coloured region shows the area where $|\epsilon|, |\eta| < 1$.

with

$$b = -\frac{2\lambda\alpha}{12\lambda\alpha\xi + \xi^2(1+6\xi)} = \frac{c}{(c+d)(1-6d)}$$

$$c = \frac{2\lambda\alpha}{\xi}$$

$$d = \xi + \frac{1}{6}.$$
(3.2)

This region is an attractor: the field rolls towards the parabola and then along it to the EW minimum. The parameter c determines the location of this region while d controls its width.

The second region is the Starobinsky region. It corresponds to a hill in the h direction and is hence a repeller. The field rolls away from the line h = 0 towards the attractor (3.1) and then along it to the EW minimum. For $\xi \gtrsim 1$, the slow-roll region around the Starobinsky solution is narrow and yields typically less than one e-fold of inflation. Hence it does not give a viable model (except in the fine-tuned case when we are right on the Starobinsky solution). However, for $\xi \ll 1$ the Starobinsky region grows wider and merges with the region around the parabola. We then have a broad connected slow-roll region, giving a third class of inflationary solutions in addition to

the attractor and Starobinsky inflation. There are successful initial field values also near the line h = 0. However, the observational constraints on the transfer angle (2.35) restrict the initial field values either to a region close to the attractor or essentially to the Starobinsky solution at h = 0. This situation is illustrated in figure 1, with field trajectories starting from different points in field space. We show in figure 2 how the viable region becomes smaller and disconnected with increasing ξ .

For positive ξ , the remaining non-successful slow-roll regions correspond to a region near the parabola

$$\varphi = -dh^2 . \tag{3.3}$$

and a region where $h \ll 1$ and $\varphi < 0$. Note that in these regions $\Omega^2 < 0$, so the scalar fields are ghosts. The first region is neither an attractor nor a repeller while the second is a repeller. In both cases the field rolls away from the EW minimum.

Let us then consider the case when ξ is negative. Now the Starobinsky region is the only successful slow-roll region. The Starobinsky solution is an attractor and the field rolls towards it, as shown in figure 3. The region around the parabola (3.1), which now opens downward, is a repeller. The second parabola (3.3) has a negative slope for values above the conformal value $-1/6 < \xi < 0$ and a positive slope for more negative values. In both cases the region around it is neither an attractor nor a repeller. Finally, the region with $h \ll 1$ and $\varphi < 0$ is an attractor, but the field rolls away from the EW minimum.

Higgs inflation limit. Let us now take a closer look at solutions on the attractor (3.1). When c decreases, the parabola becomes wider. In the $c \rightarrow 0$ limit it becomes the line $\varphi = 1$, which we might expect to correspond to pure Higgs inflation, given that the action (2.10) reduces



Figure 3. Field trajectories for c = -1and d = 0.16 ($\xi = 2\lambda\alpha \approx -7 \times 10^{-3}$) in the slow-roll region. We show only trajectories for which the observables are in the allowed ranges (2.33) to (2.37). The coloured region shows the area where $|\epsilon|, |\eta| < 1$.

to the usual Higgs case in this limit. When the field lies on the parabola, we can calculate the slow-roll parameters analytically. In the limit $dh^2 \gg 1$ (i.e. $\xi h^2 \gg 1$), when c > 1 we obtain

$$\epsilon = \frac{9(c+d)}{2(6c+6d-1)N^2} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-3})$$
(3.4)

$$\eta = -\frac{2}{N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) .$$
(3.5)

It might seem that the predictions reduce to the pure Higgs inflation case for $d \gg c$. For $c \gtrsim 1$ this is indeed the case, but inflation is not driven by the Higgs field alone (the field rolls also in the φ direction). We do not recover pure Higgs inflation in the limit $c \to 0$ (i.e. $\alpha \to 0$) either. For $c \ll 1$ the slow-roll parameters are, to leading order in c,

$$\epsilon = \frac{9(c+d)}{2(6c+6d-1)N^2} + \mathcal{O}(c)$$
(3.6)

$$\eta = \frac{3d}{2c(1-6d)^2 N^2} + \mathcal{O}(1) \ . \tag{3.7}$$

We see that η diverges as c approaches zero.³ The divergence is due to the fact that the second derivative of the potential with respect to φ is divergent. This derivative is present in all of the higher order slow-roll parameters, which diverge as 1/c. As a result the running of the spectral index diverges as $1/c^2$, and higher order corrections diverge even faster. This implies that pure Higgs inflation is impossible when the R^2 term is present in the action regardless of the value of α .⁴ Because the theory with $\alpha \neq 0$ has an extra scalar degree of freedom, it is not a small perturbation of the case $\alpha = 0$, regardless of how small α is. The limit $\alpha \to 0$ is singular, and it does not commute with solving the equations of motion, as is also the case in pure Starobinsky inflation [23].

However, as long as $1 \leq c \ll d$, we can still have Higgs-like inflation at the attractor. We define a solution to be Higgs-like if the amplitude of perturbations does not depend on α and the predictions as a function of e-folds are the same as in pure Higgs inflation. However, the trajectory is a parabola in field space, instead of a line with constant φ . Similarly, we define a solution to be Starobinsky-like if the amplitude is determined by α and the predictions as a function of e-folds are the same as in pure Starobinsky inflation.

3.2 Numerical results

We have performed a comprehensive scan of the parameter space of the slow-roll regions. Overall we have six parameters (α , ξ , λ , N and two field coordinates at the pivot scale) and three constraints for the field evolution (the constraint on e-folds, the amplitude at the pivot scale and the condition that at the end of inflation either $|\epsilon| = 1$ or $|\eta| = 1$, whichever occurs first⁵). When written in terms of the parameters c and d, the slow-roll parameters and the number of e-folds are independent of λ and

³In [36] it was claimed that inflation along the valley approaches the pure Higgs case when $M_{\rm Pl}/M \to 0$ ($c \to 0$ in our notation). However, when the $c \to 0$ limit is taken before the $\xi h^2 \gg 1$ limit (in pure Higgs inflation ξh^2 is finite but c = 0), the divergence (3.7) persists.

⁴One could argue that the analytical approximation breaks down in the limit $\xi \to 0$. However, our numerical results show that while the attractor approaches the line $\varphi = 1$ in this limit, the slow-roll parameters become larger than one.

⁵These do not correspond to the usual conditions for the end of slow-roll in single-field inflation, but give a slightly later point in time. The difference in the number of e-folds depends on the parameters, varying from negligibly small to 1.4, comparable to the effect of reheating.



Figure 4. Numerical results in field space. Each dot corresponds to the pivot scale for one solution that satisfies the observational constraints on r, n_R , α_R , Θ and f_{NL} . Red points denote solutions that lie on the attractor (3.1). The black curve is a negatively curved parabola given by $\varphi = 76 - 0.17h^2$, and it is approximately the $\xi \to 0$ limit. The EW minimum is in the bottom left corner. For representation purposes we have included only some of the datapoints used in figure 5.



Figure 5. Numerical results for spectral index n_R and tensor-to-scalar ratio r. Red points denote solutions that lie on the attractor (3.1). The black star is the pure Starobinsky solution, whose predictions agree with pure Higgs inflation. All values of r from the Starobinsky case $r = 3.8 \times 10^{-3}$ up to the observational upper limit r < 0.079 are allowed, and the spectral index is $0.939 < n_R < 0.967$. Other observables are not single-valued on this plane.

the amplitude is linear in λ . Hence we keep c, d and one of the field coordinates at the pivot scale as free parameters, and solve λ from the normalisation condition. For the numerical analysis we chose some representative values of c and varied the field coordinate and the parameter d. We checked that the results converge to analytical estimates in various limits to make sure that we have included all relevant values in our scan.

Our results are illustrated in figures 4 and 5. Figure 4 shows the solutions in field space. Each dot corresponds to the pivot scale for one solution that satisfies the above three constraints and also agrees with all of the observational constraints (2.34) to (2.37). The solutions fall into three categories: those near the Starobinsky solution (top of the black curve at h = 0), those on the downward opening parabola (traced by the black curve), and those on the paths going down from the black curve towards the EW minimum on the bottom left corner.

The first category corresponds to Starobinsky inflation. When $|\xi| \ll 1$, the Starobinsky region becomes wider (for $\xi = 0$ the first correction to the slow-roll parameters is $\mathcal{O}(\lambda \alpha h^4)$ as opposed to $\mathcal{O}(\xi h^2)$), and we can have Starobinsky-like solutions

even for $h \gg 1$. However, only solutions with $h \leq 1$ are allowed by the constraint on the transfer angle (2.35).

The second category corresponds to solutions near the attractor with a small ξ . When the value of ξ becomes small enough, the region around the attractor merges with the region around the Starobinsky solution, and the field can roll from the Starobinsky region to the attractor, while maintaining slow-roll. However, the constraint on the transfer angle restricts the field to values that are basically at the attractor. For these solutions, the tensor-to-scalar ratio can be large, $r \sim 0.1$, and they constitute most of the allowed region in figure 5.

The third category corresponds to solutions near the attractor when $\xi \gtrsim 0.1$, with different paths having different values of $c = 2\lambda\alpha/\xi$ (recall that c determines the location of the attractor). The values of d and λ increase when approaching the EW minimum on the bottom left corner. The spectral index is the same as in the pure Starobinsky case, but r can be larger for $c \ll 1$ and $d \lesssim 1$ (note that the analytical approximation (3.1) for the attractor breaks down at small values of c and the exact attractor does not approach the line $\varphi = 1$).

Figure 5 shows our results for the spectral index n_R and the tensor-to-scalar ratio r. Each dot represents again a single solution, and red points denote solutions on the attractor (3.1). We only show the allowed region, because the parameters and observables are degenerate (i.e. we can obtain the same predictions for r and n_R with multiple parameter values). We have constrained α_s , f_{NL} and $\sin \Theta$ to agree with the observed values. The black star shows the tree-level prediction of pure Higgs inflation (which coincides with the prediction of pure Starobinsky inflation). The solutions around the attractor in the case of small ξ constitute a large part of the allowed region. The spectral index n_R is in the range $0.939 < n_R < 0.967$ and tensor-to-scalar ratio r ranges from the pure Starobinsky value 3.8×10^{-3} to the current observational upper limit r < 0.079, considering all inflationary regions. The attractor solution has $0.946 < n_R < 0.964$ and the same range of r. The values of r close to the upper limit are obtained near the attractor when $\xi \ll 1$. These numbers can be compared to the analytical predictions of pure tree-level Higgs or Starobinsky inflation: $n_R = 0.96$ and $r = 5 \times 10^{-3}$.

Non-Gaussianity is small, $-9.4 \times 10^{-5} < f_{NL} < 0.021$. For positive ξ , the isocurvature fraction is $\beta_{iso} < 0.017$, while for negative ξ , β_{iso} can reach 0.24. Tightening the observational constraint on Θ would narrow down the allowed region in the n_R direction, but r could still be large. Note that if all forms of matter produced at preheating reach thermal equilibrium, isocurvature perturbations are converted to adiabatic perturbations and these limits disappear.

3.3 Comparison to previous work

Let us compare our results to previous papers that have studied non-minimally coupled scalar field inflation with the R^2 term, concentrating on those that use the SM Higgs potential. In [36] the authors found the attractor solutions and studied the fit to the data, finding that it is possible to obtain r > 0.03. They also estimated the isocurvature contribution, finding it can be large when ξ and (in our notation) c are small, which agrees with our results. In [39], the attractor solution was also studied, finding that the results for the spectral index and tensor-to-scalar ratio are basically the same as in the pure Higgs or Starobinsky case and isocurvature perturbations are small. Our results for the attractor solution agree with [36, 37, 39], when all the constraints are taken into account.

In the recent work [42], which appeared as we were preparing this paper for publication, the authors studied different inflationary trajectories analytically, including the isocurvature contribution, backed by numerical studies in some cases. They paid particular attention to the effect of initial conditions, finding that the field quickly settles onto the slow-roll trajectory, though with possible interesting wiggles when inflation starts from a hilltop. They also noted that the limit $\alpha \to 0$ is singular and found the merging of the two inflationary regions in the limit of small ξ , and the possibility of large r. We have done a comprehensive numerical study of the slow-roll trajectories, and compared to observational constraints in detail, including the running of the spectral index and non-Gaussianity. Where our work overlaps, we are in agreement.

4 Conclusions

We have done a systematic study of inflation in the case when both the non-minimally coupled Standard Model Higgs field and the R^2 term are present. We have analysed all slow-roll regions, examined the full parameter space and taken into account constraints from observations.

There are three classes of solutions: Starobinsky inflation driven by the R^2 term, an attractor region that is curved in field space, and a third region where these two merge together at small values of the non-minimal coupling ξ . The solutions in the third class are excluded by the constraints on the transfer angle (2.35). We find that Higgs-Starobinsky inflation can produce a spectral index bounded as $0.939 < n_R < 0.967$ (on the attractor $0.946 < n_R < 0.964$) and, constraining n_R to the observed range, the tensor-to-scalar ratio varies from $r = 3.8 \times 10^{-3}$ up to the current upper limit r < 0.079, reaching the upper limit when $\xi \ll 1$. These solutions also agree with the observational limits on the amplitude of perturbations, running of the spectral index, isocurvature fraction, isocurvature transfer angle and non-Gaussianity. Of these, the isocurvature fraction and non-Gaussianity are automatically within the observational range and provide no extra constraints, whereas the running of the spectral index and isocurvature transfer angle contribute to the limits. The results extend the analytical prediction of pure tree-level Higgs or Starobinsky inflation, $n_R = 0.96$, $r = 5 \times 10^{-3}$. We also find that ξ can be much smaller than in pure Higgs inflation (all points shown in figure 5 can be reached with $\xi < 1$), which can help with the unitarity issue of Higgs inflation [40, 61–78].

Extending previous studies, we have taken into account the observational limits for the running of the spectral index, non-Gaussianity and isocurvature in detail. Notably, we find that there is no pure Higgs inflation limit when the R^2 term is present, no matter how small its coefficient α is. This is related to the fact that the limit $\alpha \to 0$ is singular, as noted in [39, 42]. One way to avoid this destabilisation is to use the Palatini formulation of general relativity, where the R^2 term does not generate a new scalar degree of freedom [26, 44, 45].

We have relied on the standard description of reheating for the pure Higgs inflation case [54–56]. The reheating temperature is lower in Starobinsky inflation [29], reducing the number of e-folds. Reheating in the mixed Higgs–Starobinsky model requires a dedicated study, continuing along the lines of [79]. We expect changes in reheating to affect the allowed region in the model parameter space (i.e. the values of α , λ and ξ may change), but the overall picture remains the same: parameters can be found to match the observations. The main difference would likely be a small shift in the allowed region: for longer reheating n_R is smaller and r is larger.

A more careful analysis would also take into account quantum corrections. In [33] small corrections at the level of a few percent, rising with λ , were found at two loops. Standard Model particles other than the radial Higgs mode (the top quark in particular) should also be included in the analysis, because they affect the running of the Higgs self-coupling, as in pure Higgs inflation.

Acknowledgments

We thank Tommi Tenkanen who participated in the beginning of this project. LPW is supported by the Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation.

References

- G. Isidori, V. S. Rychkov, A. Strumia and N. Tetradis, Gravitational corrections to standard model vacuum decay, Phys. Rev. D77 (2008) 025034, [0712.0242].
- [2] Y. Hamada, H. Kawai and K.-y. Oda, Minimal Higgs inflation, PTEP 2014 (2014) 023B02, [1308.6651].
- [3] M. Fairbairn, P. Grothaus and R. Hogan, The Problem with False Vacuum Higgs Inflation, JCAP 1406 (2014) 039, [1403.7483].
- [4] F. L. Bezrukov and M. Shaposhnikov, The Standard Model Higgs boson as the inflaton, Phys. Lett. B659 (2008) 703–706, [0710.3755].
- [5] J. C. G. Callan, S. R. Coleman and R. Jackiw, A New improved energy momentum tensor, Annals Phys. 59 (1970) 42–73.
- [6] PLANCK collaboration, Y. Akrami et al., Planck 2018 results. X. Constraints on inflation, 1807.06211.
- [7] J. Fumagalli and M. Postma, UV (in)sensitivity of Higgs inflation, JHEP 05 (2016) 049, [1602.07234].
- [8] K. Allison, Higgs xi-inflation for the 125-126 GeV Higgs: a two-loop analysis, JHEP 02 (2014) 040, [1306.6931].
- F. Bezrukov and M. Shaposhnikov, *Higgs inflation at the critical point*, *Phys. Lett.* B734 (2014) 249–254, [1403.6078].

- [10] Y. Hamada, H. Kawai, K.-y. Oda and S. C. Park, *Higgs Inflation is Still Alive after the Results from BICEP2*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** (2014) 241301, [1403.5043].
- [11] Y. Hamada, H. Kawai, K.-y. Oda and S. C. Park, *Higgs inflation from Standard Model criticality*, *Phys. Rev.* D91 (2015) 053008, [1408.4864].
- [12] F. Bezrukov, J. Rubio and M. Shaposhnikov, Living beyond the edge: Higgs inflation and vacuum metastability, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015) 083512, [1412.3811].
- [13] J. Rubio, Higgs inflation and vacuum stability, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 631 (2015) 012032, [1502.07952].
- [14] V.-M. Enckell, K. Enqvist and S. Nurmi, Observational signatures of Higgs inflation, JCAP 1607 (2016) 047, [1603.07572].
- [15] F. Bezrukov, M. Pauly and J. Rubio, On the robustness of the primordial power spectrum in renormalized Higgs inflation, 1706.05007.
- [16] S. Räsänen and P. Wahlman, Higgs inflation with loop corrections in the Palatini formulation, 1709.07853.
- [17] J. M. Ezquiaga, J. Garcia-Bellido and E. Ruiz Morales, Primordial Black Hole production in Critical Higgs Inflation, Phys. Lett. B776 (2018) 345–349, [1705.04861].
- [18] S. Räsänen and E. Tomberg, Planck scale black hole dark matter from Higgs inflation, 1810.12608.
- [19] V.-M. Enckell, K. Enqvist, S. Räsänen and E. Tomberg, *Higgs inflation at the hilltop*, JCAP 1806 (2018) 005, [1802.09299].
- [20] R. Jinno and K. Kaneta, *Hill-climbing inflation*, *Phys. Rev.* D96 (2017) 043518, [1703.09020].
- [21] R. Jinno, K. Kaneta and K.-y. Oda, Hillclimbing Higgs inflation, 1705.03696.
- [22] A. A. Starobinsky, A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity, Phys. Lett. 91B (1980) 99–102.
- [23] J. Z. Simon, Higher Derivative Lagrangians, Nonlocality, Problems and Solutions, Phys. Rev. D41 (1990) 3720.
- [24] F. Mueller-Hoissen, Higher derivative versus second order field equations, Annalen Phys. 48 (1991) 543–557.
- [25] R. P. Woodard, Avoiding dark energy with 1/r modifications of gravity, Lect. Notes Phys. 720 (2007) 403-433, [astro-ph/0601672].
- [26] T. P. Sotiriou and S. Liberati, Metric-affine f(R) theories of gravity, Annals Phys. **322** (2007) 935–966, [gr-qc/0604006].
- [27] N. Ohta, Quantum equivalence of f(R) gravity and scalar-tensor theories in the Jordan and Einstein frames, PTEP **2018** (2018) 033B02, [1712.05175].
- [28] M. S. Ruf and C. F. Steinwachs, Quantum equivalence of f(R) gravity and scalar-tensor theories, Phys. Rev. **D97** (2018) 044050, [1711.07486].
- [29] F. L. Bezrukov and D. S. Gorbunov, Distinguishing between R²-inflation and Higgs-inflation, Phys. Lett. B713 (2012) 365–368, [1111.4397].

- [30] A. Salvio and A. Mazumdar, Classical and Quantum Initial Conditions for Higgs Inflation, Phys. Lett. B750 (2015) 194–200, [1506.07520].
- [31] X. Calmet and I. Kuntz, *Higgs Starobinsky Inflation*, *Eur. Phys. J.* C76 (2016) 289, [1605.02236].
- [32] A. Salvio, Initial Conditions for Critical Higgs Inflation, Phys. Lett. B780 (2018) 111–117, [1712.04477].
- [33] D. M. Ghilencea, Two-loop corrections to Starobinsky-Higgs inflation, 1807.06900.
- [34] J. L. F. Barbon, J. A. Casas, J. Elias-Miro and J. R. Espinosa, *Higgs Inflation as a Mirage*, *JHEP* 09 (2015) 027, [1501.02231].
- [35] S. Kaneda and S. V. Ketov, Starobinsky-like two-field inflation, Eur. Phys. J. C76 (2016) 26, [1510.03524].
- [36] Y.-C. Wang and T. Wang, Primordial perturbations generated by Higgs field and R² operator, Phys. Rev. D96 (2017) 123506, [1701.06636].
- [37] Y. Ema, Higgs Scalaron Mixed Inflation, Phys. Lett. B770 (2017) 403–411, [1701.07665].
- [38] S. Pi, Y.-l. Zhang, Q.-G. Huang and M. Sasaki, Scalaron from R²-gravity as a heavy field, JCAP 1805 (2018) 042, [1712.09896].
- [39] M. He, A. A. Starobinsky and J. Yokoyama, Inflation in the mixed Higgs-R² model, JCAP 1805 (2018) 064, [1804.00409].
- [40] D. Gorbunov and A. Tokareva, Scalaron the healer: removing the strong-coupling in the Higgs- and Higgs-dilaton inflations, 1807.02392.
- [41] S.-J. Wang, Quintessential Starobinsky inflation and swampland criteria, 1810.06445.
- [42] A. Gundhi and C. F. Steinwachs, Scalaron-Higgs inflation, 1810.10546.
- [43] A. Karam, T. Pappas and K. Tamvakis, Nonminimal Coleman-Weinberg Inflation with an R² term, 1810.12884.
- [44] V.-M. Enckell, K. Enqvist, S. Räsänen and L.-P. Wahlman, Inflation with R² term in the Palatini formalism, 1810.05536.
- [45] I. Antoniadis, A. Karam, A. Lykkas and K. Tamvakis, Palatini inflation in models with an R² term, 1810.10418.
- [46] J. Kubo, M. Lindner, K. Schmitz and M. Yamada, Planck mass and inflation as consequences of dynamically broken scale invariance, 1811.05950.
- [47] L. A. Kofman, A. D. Linde and A. A. Starobinsky, Inflationary Universe Generated by the Combined Action of a Scalar Field and Gravitational Vacuum Polarization, Phys. Lett. 157B (1985) 361–367.
- [48] T. d. P. Netto, A. M. Pelinson, I. L. Shapiro and A. A. Starobinsky, From stable to unstable anomaly-induced inflation, Eur. Phys. J. C76 (2016) 544, [1509.08882].
- [49] L.-H. Liu, T. Prokopec and A. A. Starobinsky, Inflation in an effective gravitational model and asymptotic safety, Phys. Rev. D98 (2018) 043505, [1806.05407].
- [50] T. P. Sotiriou and V. Faraoni, f(R) Theories Of Gravity, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82 (2010) 451–497, [0805.1726].

- [51] S. Karamitsos and A. Pilaftsis, Frame Covariant Nonminimal Multifield Inflation, Nucl. Phys. B927 (2018) 219–254, [1706.07011].
- [52] S. Karamitsos and A. Pilaftsis, On the Cosmological Frame Problem, in 17th Hellenic School and Workshops on Elementary Particle Physics and Gravity (CORFU2017) Corfu, Greece, September 2-28, 2017, 2018, 1801.07151.
- [53] PLANCK collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A20, [1502.02114].
- [54] D. G. Figueroa, Preheating the Universe from the Standard Model Higgs, AIP Conf. Proc. 1241 (2010) 578–587, [0911.1465].
- [55] D. G. Figueroa, J. Garcia-Bellido and F. Torrenti, Decay of the standard model Higgs field after inflation, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015) 083511, [1504.04600].
- [56] J. Repond and J. Rubio, Combined Preheating on the lattice with applications to Higgs inflation, JCAP 1607 (2016) 043, [1604.08238].
- [57] Y. Ema, R. Jinno, K. Mukaida and K. Nakayama, Violent Preheating in Inflation with Nonminimal Coupling, JCAP 1702 (2017) 045, [1609.05209].
- [58] M. P. DeCross, D. I. Kaiser, A. Prabhu, C. Prescod-Weinstein and E. I. Sfakianakis, Preheating after multifield inflation with nonminimal couplings, III: Dynamical spacetime results, Phys. Rev. D97 (2018) 023528, [1610.08916].
- [59] E. I. Sfakianakis and J. van de Vis, Preheating after Higgs Inflation: Self-Resonance and Gauge boson production, Phys. Rev. D99 (2019) 083519, [1810.01304].
- [60] PLANCK collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XVII. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A17, [1502.01592].
- [61] J. L. F. Barbon and J. R. Espinosa, On the Naturalness of Higgs Inflation, Phys. Rev. D79 (2009) 081302, [0903.0355].
- [62] C. P. Burgess, H. M. Lee and M. Trott, Power-counting and the Validity of the Classical Approximation During Inflation, JHEP 09 (2009) 103, [0902.4465].
- [63] C. P. Burgess, H. M. Lee and M. Trott, Comment on Higgs Inflation and Naturalness, JHEP 07 (2010) 007, [1002.2730].
- [64] R. N. Lerner and J. McDonald, *Higgs Inflation and Naturalness*, *JCAP* **1004** (2010) 015, [0912.5463].
- [65] R. N. Lerner and J. McDonald, A Unitarity-Conserving Higgs Inflation Model, Phys. Rev. D82 (2010) 103525, [1005.2978].
- [66] M. P. Hertzberg, On Inflation with Non-minimal Coupling, JHEP 11 (2010) 023, [1002.2995].
- [67] F. Bauer and D. A. Demir, Higgs-Palatini Inflation and Unitarity, Phys. Lett. B698 (2011) 425–429, [1012.2900].
- [68] F. Bezrukov, A. Magnin, M. Shaposhnikov and S. Sibiryakov, *Higgs inflation: consistency and generalisations*, *JHEP* 01 (2011) 016, [1008.5157].
- [69] F. Bezrukov, D. Gorbunov and M. Shaposhnikov, Late and early time phenomenology of Higgs-dependent cutoff, JCAP 1110 (2011) 001, [1106.5019].

- [70] X. Calmet and R. Casadio, Self-healing of unitarity in Higgs inflation, Phys. Lett. B734 (2014) 17–20, [1310.7410].
- [71] J. Weenink and T. Prokopec, Gauge invariant cosmological perturbations for the nonminimally coupled inflaton field, Phys. Rev. D82 (2010) 123510, [1007.2133].
- [72] R. N. Lerner and J. McDonald, Unitarity-Violation in Generalized Higgs Inflation Models, JCAP 1211 (2012) 019, [1112.0954].
- [73] T. Prokopec and J. Weenink, Uniqueness of the gauge invariant action for cosmological perturbations, JCAP 1212 (2012) 031, [1209.1701].
- [74] Z.-Z. Xianyu, J. Ren and H.-J. He, Gravitational Interaction of Higgs Boson and Weak Boson Scattering, Phys. Rev. D88 (2013) 096013, [1305.0251].
- [75] T. Prokopec and J. Weenink, Naturalness in Higgs inflation in a frame independent formalism, 1403.3219.
- [76] J. Ren, Z.-Z. Xianyu and H.-J. He, Higgs Gravitational Interaction, Weak Boson Scattering, and Higgs Inflation in Jordan and Einstein Frames, JCAP 1406 (2014) 032, [1404.4627].
- [77] A. Escrivà and C. Germani, Beyond dimensional analysis: Higgs and new Higgs inflations do not violate unitarity, Phys. Rev. D95 (2017) 123526, [1612.06253].
- [78] J. Fumagalli, S. Mooij and M. Postma, Unitarity and predictiveness in new Higgs inflation, JHEP 03 (2018) 038, [1711.08761].
- [79] M. He, R. Jinno, K. Kamada, S. C. Park, A. A. Starobinsky and J. Yokoyama, On the violent preheating in the mixed Higgs-R² inflationary model, 1812.10099.